Annals of Medicine and Surgery 21 (2017) 34-44



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Annals of Medicine and Surgery

journal homepage: www.annalsjournal.com



Tissue expansion for breast reconstruction: Methods and techniques



Nicolo Bertozzi^{a, b, *}, Marianna Pesce^c, PierLuigi Santi^c, Edoardo Raposio^{a, b}

^a Department of Medicine and Surgery, Plastic Surgery Division, University of Parma, Cutaneous, Mini-invasive, Regenerative and Plastic Surgery Unit, Parma University Hospital, Parma, Italy

^b Department of Surgical Sciences and Integrated Diagnostics, University of Genoa, Plastic Surgery Department, IRCCS San Martino University Hospital, National Institute for Cancer Research, Genoa, Italy

^c Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, San Martino-IST University of Genova, Genova, Italy

HIGHLIGHTS

- Diagnosis of breast cancer at increasingly earlier stages has encouraged the development of more conservative mastectomy.
- Breast reconstruction is an integral part of the management of breast cancer providing both psychosocial and aesthetic benefits.
- Tissue expander/implant-based reconstruction constitutes almost 65% of all breast reconstructions.
- Tissue expander/implant-based reconstruction can be performed as a two-stage procedure either in immediate setting or delayed.
- Most studies on breast reconstructions are single-center observations and no evidence-based guidelines are available yet.

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 27 April 2017 Received in revised form 18 July 2017 Accepted 18 July 2017

Keywords: Reconstructive surgery Breast cancer Breast implants Breast surgery Tissue expansion

ABSTRACT

Objective: In this work, the authors review recent data on the different methods and techniques of TE/ implant-based reconstruction to determine the complication profiles and the advantages and disadvantages of the different techniques. This information will be valuable for surgeons performing breast reconstructions.

Materials and methods: A thorough literature review was conducted by the authors concerning the current strategy of tissue expander (TE)/implant-based breast reconstruction following breast cancer surgery.

Results: Loss of the breast can strongly affect a woman's personal and social life while breast reconstruction reduces the sense of mutilation felt by women after a mastectomy, and provides psychosocial as well as aesthetic benefits. TE/implant-based reconstruction is the most common breast reconstructive strategy, constituting almost 65% of all breast reconstructions in the US. Although numerous studies have been published on various aspects of alloplastic breast reconstructions, most studies are single-center observations. No evidence-based guidelines are available as yet. Conventional TE/implant-based reconstruction can be performed as a two-stage procedure either in the immediate or delayed setting. Moreover, the adjunctive use of acellular dermal matrix further broadened the alloplastic breast reconstruction indication and also enhanced aesthetic outcomes.

Conclusions: TE/implant-based reconstruction has proved to be a safe, cost-effective, and reliable technique that can be performed in women with various comorbidities. Short operative time, fast recovery, and absence of donor site morbidity are other advantages over autologous breast reconstruction.

© 2017 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of IJS Publishing Group Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	35
2.	History of TE/implant-based breast reconstruction	. 35
3.	General considerations	. 36

* Corresponding author. Cutaneous, Mininvasive, Regenerative and Plastic Sur-

gery Unit, Parma University Hospital, Via Gramsci 14, 43126, Parma, Italy.

E-mail address: nicolo.bertozzi@yahoo.com (N. Bertozzi).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2017.07.048

2049-0801/© 2017 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of IJS Publishing Group Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

4.	Preoperative planning	36
5.	Surgical technique	37
	5.1. First stage	37
	5.1.1. Immediate breast reconstruction	. 37
	5.1.2. Delayed breast reconstruction	38
	5.2. Expansion	
	5.3. Second stage	. 39
6.	Postoperative care	
7.	Secondary procedure	39
8.	Complications	39
9.	Outcomes	40
10.	Conclusions	40
	Ethical approval	40
	Sources of funding	40
	Author contribution	40
	Conflicts of interest	
	Guarantor	41
	Consent	41
	References	41

1. Introduction

Breast cancer (BC) is by far the most common cancer in women, affecting about 12.5% women in the United States [1]. Its diagnosis at increasingly earlier stages has encouraged the development of more conservative mastectomy procedures, such as nipple-sparing, skin-sparing, and skin-reducing mastectomies [2-5]. The loss of a breast can be a traumatic experience, with serious effects on the quality of life [6,7]. For women who have undergone a mastectomy, breast reconstruction provides psychosocial as well as aesthetic benefits [8–13]. Breast reconstruction has therefore come to be regarded as not just a cosmetic procedure but an integral part of the management of BC [14,15] (see Fig. 1).

Although different approaches for post-mastectomy breast reconstruction exit, tissue expander (TE)/implant-based reconstruction constitutes almost 65% of all breast reconstructions in the US because it is considered a safe, cost-effective, and reliable technique that can be performed in women with a wide variety of comorbid states [16–20]. Even though autologous breast reconstruction provides a better cosmetic outcome and more naturalappearing breast reconstruction, TE-based reconstructions have the advantages of shorter operative time, faster recovery, and no donor site morbidity [21]. Moreover, autologous breast reconstruction can still be performed in case TE-based reconstruction fails. Conventional TE/implant-based reconstruction can be performed as a two-stage procedure either in immediate setting at the time of the mastectomy or delayed. During the first step, a complete submuscular pocket is created for the TE by elevating the inferolateral portion of the pectoralis major muscle and the anterior insertion of the anterior serratus muscle. The second step-TEimplant exchange—is performed once the desired breast expansion is achieved. A technical modification to TE-based breast reconstruction is the use of the acellular dermal matrix (ADM) of either human or bovine origin, which allows creation of the submuscular pocket by mobilization of only the pectoralis major muscle [22,23]. The use of ADM provides numerous advantages over the conventional technique, but there are also potential disadvantages, including higher cost [24]. More recently, autologous dermal grafts have been proposed as an alternative to ADM [25,26].

do not provide evidence-based results [27e30]. Our work attempts to help both surgeons and their patients in the decision-making stage of breast reconstruction by collating recent data on the different method and techniques of TE-based breast reconstruction in order to determine the complication profiles and improve the health care quality.

2. History of TE/implant-based breast reconstruction

The first report of tissue expansion dates back to the 1957, when Neumann demonstrated its feasibility for achieving coverage of a subauricular defect [31]. However, more than 20 years had to pass prior that interest in tissue expansion rose again following the work of Radovan in the 1978 and Austad in 1982 [32–34]. The safety and efficacy of tissue expansion has since been thoroughly proven, and it has gained wide acceptance. The design of the TE has improved over time, and with the port incorporated in the surface of the implant, there is no longer any need for creation of a distal pocket for valve location. Moreover, textured expanders reduced the issue of their migration from the area of higher skin tightness (e.g., the inferior quadrants of the skin envelope) ensuring a better definition of the inframmamary line. Like breast implants, TEs are available in different shapes, including round and contoured shapes, which allow for greater lower pole expansion, thus increasing the upper pole slope. The history of breast implants is even older than that of TEs and starts in the 19th century when a lipoma of the back was grafted into the breast in an attempt to provide breast augmentation [35]. Since then, different materials have been investigated, but it was only in the early 1960s that silicone implants, as currently designed, started being widely adopted [36]. The early generations of silicon implants experimented with varying thicknesses of the outer silicon layer and with silicon gel of different densities in the attempt to reduce the occurrence of capsule contracture, fluid migration, and ruptures [36]. Modern silicon implants are made of a threedimensional matrix of cross-linked silicone molecules that do not leak out even in case of rupture of the outer layer [36]. Moreover, the introduction of textured implants has reduced capsular contracture rates and the possibility of implant malposition [36]. The latest generation of silicon implants display a vast range of shapes and volumes, varying implant width, height, and projection on the chest wall. Some manufactures provide silicon implants characterized by a more cohesive silicon gel on the top to ensure

There are numerous works in the literature on the methods, timing, complications, and safety of TE-based reconstruction, but most are based on empirical observations from single centers and over-projection, and a softer gel in the remaining portion to provide a more natural feeling when touched.

3. General considerations

TE/implant-based reconstruction aims to achieve a highly projected, medium-sized breast (400–500 cc), with little to moderate ptosis, rather than to create an exact match of the contralateral breast contour [37]. Therefore, patients undergoing unilateral reconstruction must be aware that they may eventually need to undergo contralateral breast augmentation, reduction, or mastopexy for breast symmetrization [38].

Small-to medium-sized breasts can be reconstructed with implants of the proper size and shape. Indeed, extra-projected, anatomically-shaped prostheses filled with highly cohesive silicon gel can ensure outstanding cosmetic outcome as well as a safe surgical procedure, and thus help the patient avoid autologous breast reconstruction with its associated donor site morbidity [39,40]. Even a large-breasted patient can be made eligible for implant-based, one-step reconstruction by means of skin reducing mastectomy [2]. However, autologous breast reconstruction is indicated in the patient with large ptotic breasts, who is willing to maintain a large-sized breast and refuses contralateral surgery.

Both stages of TE/implant-based reconstruction can be performed as a one-day surgery procedure; the entire procedure takes only $1^1/_2$ h, causes minimal morbidity and, unlike autologous breast reconstruction, leaves no donor site scar [36]. However, complications related to implant use, as well as contour deformities, are possibilities that must be taken into the reckoning. In addition, an adequate skin envelope is needed to support the expansion process, and hence history of smoking, scleroderma, or radiotherapy is relative contraindications [36].

Thus, almost every patient is eligible for immediate or delayed (from the 3rd postoperative month) TE/implant-based reconstruction [36]. For the previously irradiated breast, however, other reconstructive strategies are advisable, given the unacceptable rate of severe complications (e.g., implant extrusion, capsular contracture, or implant displacement) in this setting [41e46]. The same consideration is due for patients undergoing radiotherapy prior to TE/implant exchange. When post-mastectomy radiation is planned, the patient should be discouraged from undergoing immediate TE-breast reconstruction and be informed of the high risk of implant whose risk of BC locoregional recurrence exceeds 25%-30% [49–51]. There is unanimous agreement that radiotherapy is indicated in patients with at least four positive axillary nodes and/or locally advanced disease (T3, T4, or skin involvement) [52–54]. However, the need for radiation is determined only after pathologic analysis of lymph nodes and tumor margins. Thus, when the need for radiation therapy seems likely, but it is not required in the preoperative setting, a delayed-immediate strategy may be advisable [55–58]. In this approach, a partially inflated TE is placed at the time of mastectomy, so that the initial shape and thickness of the breast skin flaps is preserved for 3–4 days, till the pathologic analyses are completed. If pathologic analysis shows that adjuvant radiation therapy is not needed, conventional tissue expansion can be performed, with outcomes similar to those obtainable with immediate breast reconstruction. On the other hand, if the patient requires postmastectomy radiation therapy, the TE will have to be completely deflated, to leave a flat chest wall surface that will permit modern, three-beam radiation delivery. Once radiation therapy is completed, skin-preserving delayed reconstruction can be performed. Alternatively, patients may undergo tissue expansion during postoperative chemotherapy and receive radiation therapy only after TE/implant exchange [36]. This approach broadens the eligibility for TE-based reconstruction to also include women requiring adjuvant radiotherapy. Complications and extrusion rates are lower than in patients who undergo radiation with the TE in situ. The capsular contracture rate is still high, but the satisfaction rate is not significantly different from that of patients who have not received radiation [59].

Nevertheless, the best reconstructive strategy in patients, who will receive or have already received radiation therapy, is delayed autologous tissue reconstruction after adjuvant radiation therapy has been completed [60].

4. Preoperative planning

The preoperative project should be made the day before the operation by the oncologic surgeon together with the plastic surgeon. BC localization, BC dimensions, and nipple-areola involvement have to be evaluated cautiously. Preoperative markings should favorably locate the mastectomy scar, while preserving the required skin envelope. The inframammary fold (IMF) and the borders of the breast, must be marked with the patient in a standing position. The upper pole border should match the level of the contralateral one, which can be delineated by gently compressing the contralateral breast against the chest wall. Nipple-tosternal notch distance, areola-to-IMF distance, and breast width are measured at this stage. Skin quality, elasticity, and thickness are also assessed. When matching surgery on the contralateral breast is to be performed at the same time as the mastectomy, the preoperative markings on the contralateral breast are also drawn; breast augmentation, breast reduction, and mastopexy are the usual procedures required.

extrusion, which may require switch to autologous breast reconstruction.

Radiation therapy may be administered since prior to mastectomy till the completion of tissue expansion. Patients with up to T2stage BC may not require radiotherapy after mastectomy [47]; however, given the increasing prevalence of BC and the growing indications for adjuvant radiotherapy, the number of patients who are willing to undergo TE-breast reconstruction, and at the same time are eligible for radiotherapy, keep rising [48].

Adjuvant radiation therapy improves the outcomes of patients



Fig. 1. Preoperative pictures (a, b) of a 46-year old patient prior to skin-preserving mastectomy and sentinel lymph node biopsy. (c) Intraoperatively, the expander can be seen within the submuscular pocket. The big arrow indicates the pectoralis major muscle, while the small one indicates the anterior serratus muscle. The final result after TE/implant exchange and secondary procedures (nipple-areola complex reconstruction and tattooing). (d, e).

At this stage, the surgeon should already have a clear picture in mind of the final result of the reconstructed breast, so that the best TE dimensions and location can be selected most wisely. The base diameter and volume of the eventually placed implant determines the choice of the TE, while the habitus of the patients guides the selection of the contour profile of the TE. The choice of the TE is also influenced by the surgeon's preferences, the project for the contralateral breast, and the patient's wishes. The surgeon must be aware that the patient's main concern is her attractiveness after the breast reconstruction and that the final breast size interacts with body size to influence the patient's satisfaction with her self-image [61]. However, as a general rule, a TE with base diameter >15 cm should be avoided even for reconstruction of a large breast as it can limit the mobility of the homolateral arm. Furthermore, while the TE height should generally match that of the contralateral breast, TEs with too much or too little height are not advisable.

Full-projection TEs help recruit upper pole tissue to highly expand the lower pole, giving a naturally ptotic appearance to the reconstructed breast [62]. To prevent nipple-areola complex (NAC) displacement, precise location of the TE is mandatory when reconstructing a breast after a nipple-sparing mastectomy.

With the increase in the range of reconstructive strategies available in BC surgery, the complexity of the decision-making process has increased [63–65], and algorithms, flow charts, and nomograms have been proposed by different researchers to aid the less-experienced surgeon [64,66–69]. More recently, surgical planning systems have been devised, as also virtual simulator systems, to train surgeons outside of the apprenticeship model [70–72].

5. Surgical technique

The mastectomy prior to TE-breast reconstruction can be either a simple skin-sparing, skin-reducing, NAC-sparing mastectomy or a skin-reducing NAC-sparing mastectomy. In the last 20 years, mastectomy incisions have changed; the oblique incision placed in the medial aspect of the mastectomy as inferiorly as possible has given way the to the horizontal incision used during skin sparing mastectomies today. For nipple-sparing mastectomies, a periareolar incision is performed instead, with or without a small lateral extension. Indeed, oblique incisions tend to result in a medial dogear and difficult lower pole expansion [73]. Moreover, compared to the older IMF incision, the newer incisions provide better exposure during mastectomy and also reduce the risk to the blood supply to the skin flaps and the NAC, while allowing easier TE-implant exchange and circumferential capsulotomy [43–77]. The IMF is a crucial landmark of the breast. It extends from the bottom of the fifth rib medially to the top of the seventh rib laterally, and is usually easily preserved during mastectomy [36]. Gross anatomic and histologic studies have shown that it is a specialized part of the superficial fascial system, where organized collagen fibers in the dermis and/or an actual ligament arising from periosteum and the intercostal fascia join the superfi cial fascial layer of the subcutaneous tissue [78,79]. When disrupted during mastectomy, it must be restored, either immediately or during a subsequent surgery, using 4–5 braided silk or Vicryl[®] sutures [38]. angiography are now available as adjunctive diagnostic tools [81,82]. Some authors suggest a second dose of prophylactic antibiotics and re-application of the surgical prep in order to reduce the risk of postoperative infection, even though no definite evidence of benefit has been demonstrated [38].

If the mastectomy flaps are deemed viable, the surgeon can proceed with immediate reconstruction by creating the pocket for the TE. Either a partial or complete submuscular pocket is created, with the same dimensions as the selected expander. The chosen TE should have the same base width and height as the contralateral breast. It is important to avoid implant visibility or exposure and so complete soft tissue coverage of the TE must be ensured.

Some authors advocate complete muscular coverage to maximize vascularity and to prevent any contact of the TE with the overlying mastectomy incision [36,38].

For submuscular pocket creation, the patient in placed in the supine position with the homolateral upper arm adducted at 60 °; the pectoralis major muscle is dissected from its insertion on the ribcage, starting with the lateral edge. The aponeurosis of the anterior rectus and external oblique muscles are thus exposed. The pectoralis major is then also dissected medially from its sternal attachment, from the inferior edge of the pocket up to the second rib [36]. The pectoralis major can now be elevated, and the sub-pectoral pocket can be superiorly dissected in a relatively avascular plane, following the preoperative markings. At this stage, care should be taken not to injure the thoracoacromial vessels or the perforator from the internal mammary artery in the medial second intercostal space.

Complete muscular coverage of the TE is initially obtained by raising the serratus anterior muscle completely [83]. However, once the muscle is lifted off its insertion on the ribcage, the chest wall remains uncovered and painful; furthermore, the suture for the inferolateral definition of the breast profile may be unreliably positioned at this level [73]. The alternative is to only dissect the lower slips of the serratus anterior muscle to complete the inferolateral portion of the submuscular pocket. Care should be taken not to interrupt the bridging fascia between the pectoralis major and the serratus anterior. Dissection through the intercostal spaces should also be avoided. At this stage, the lateral edge of the pectoralis minor muscle can be raised in continuity with the lower slips of the serratus anterior muscle to ensure superolateral retention of the TE and prevention of migration toward the axilla. Conversely, a partial submuscular pocket for the TE can be obtained by creating a musculofascial one. Once the pectoralis major muscle has been raised, the serratus anterior muscle is elevated in a plane within the muscle along with its overlying fascia [73]. With this approach, a portion of the muscle will still cover the rib cage. To avoid malposition or rotation of the expander, the submuscular pocket should be designed to suit the selected TE. However, in all cases, the medial border should be at least 1-2 cm away from the midline, and the lateral border should be at the anterior axillary line.

5.1. First stage

5.1.1. Immediate breast reconstruction

After completing the mastectomy, and before commencing reconstruction, the surgeon assesses the blood supply of the skin flaps. Traditionally, this done on the basis of skin flap color, capillary refill, temperature, turgor, and dermal bleeding [80]; however, fluorescein angiography and laser-assisted indocyanine green Inferior coverage of the TE is normally achieved by elevating the fascia of the anterior rectus muscle; however, for patients undergoing skin-reducing mastectomy, the dermal-adipose inferior flap is used for coverage of the lower pole [36].

Traditionally, anatomically-shaped TE were placed just at the IMF. It was widely accepted that preserving the IMF and placing an anatomically shaped TE should be sufficient to maintain the breast contour [84]. As a result, the anatomical TE could eventually be replaced with an anatomical implant of the same size and contour [85,86]. However, the TE tends to assume a round shape as its volume increases and, given the restrictive capacity of the IMF, the point of maximal expansion would not be at the lower pole; this tended to result in a breast with very constricted lower quadrants.

To address this issue, surgeons started placing a full-height TE 1-2 cm below the IMF; this approach minimized overexpansion of the upper pole and maximized that of the lower quadrants [73]. This approach necessitated a curvilinear fasciotomy through the inferolateral fascial layer into the subcutaneous fat, at or just below the IMF, to allow proper lower pole expansion and avoid TE displacement. Indeed a fascial band across the lower pole can often prevent anterior expansion and compression of the TE. Once the pocket has been created, it is thoroughly irrigated to remove any cautery char or loose fat, and to highlight any bleeding points. Various irrigant solutions have been proposed; the most popular ones are triple antibiotic of Adams (comprising 80 mg of gentamicin, 1 g of cefazolin, and 50,000 U of bacitracin [or equivalent vancomycin], diluted in 500 mL of normal saline); single antibiotic solution; diluted povidone-iodine; and normal saline [87-89]. Subclinical pocket infection has been identified as a possible etiology of capsular contracture, but this has not yet been conclusively demonstrated. No comparative study on the efficacy of different irrigation solutions has been carried out either [38].

The TE is completely evacuated of any retained air and then inflated with saline up to 20%–30% of its final volume to facilitate its insertion into the pocket. However, Hall-Findlay et al. [38] have suggested that it be inserted in a completely de-inflated state so as to minimize the risk of damage to tissues, and that it be unfurled by inflation with 60–120 cc of saline only after it is in position.

If the pocket is of the correct size, the properly positioned TE will have the integrated valve at its upper pole and will not be folded on itself. Once the TE is in place, the pocket is closed with reabsorbable interrupted sutures. One or two drains should have been placed prior to TE placement.

Final intraoperative expansion may vary widely. Earlier, very small amounts of fluid were use to inflate the TE to avoid provoking mastectomy flap necrosis [90]. However, studies have demonstrated that intraoperative expansion with large volumes did not result in higher rate of skin flap necrosis and that, in fact, lower TE volumes were associated with higher risk of postoperative complications such as hematoma and seroma formation [19,91]. Nowadays, TEs are filled with saline up to 50% of the final volume intraoperatively, depending on the overlying soft tissue laxity and appearance. Generally, 20% of the final TE volume is usually well tolerated by most patients [19,36,38,73,91].

Recently, Breuing [22] and Salzberg [92] have used ADM for

therapeutic adjunct for breast reconstruction due to its better long-term aesthetic and clinical benefits, and reported that it is particularly suited for patients undergoing two-stage, immediate, TE-based breast reconstruction. In a recent review, Kim et al. [119] reported acceptable complication rates of 8.6%–19.5% after ADM breast reconstruction. Finally, in view of the popularity of ADM and the uncertainties regarding its indications and contraindications, both Vu et al. [120] and Jordan et al. [121] have recently proposed an algorithmic approach to aid decision-making with regard to the use of ADM.

A polyester mesh (SurgiMesh[®] PET) has been proposed as an alternative to ADM in alloplastic breast reconstruction and has shown promising results [122,123]. SurgiMesh[®] PET is a safe synthetic mesh that has been used in surgery as an alloplastic material for over 40 years and can ensure aesthetic benefits similar to those obtained with ADM, without the drawbacks of high cost and local policy restrictions.

A few authors have also proposed dermal autografts as an alternative to ADM [124e126]. The autologous dermal graft can be harvested during the time of the mastectomy as a horizontallyoriented ellipse in the lower abdomen if a preexisting scar is present (mainly resulting from a Pfannenstiel incision) or from the contralateral breast if a reductive mastoplasty is planned. Lynch at al [126] conducted a prospective study to compare the outcomes of TE-breast reconstruction by means of dermal autografts and ADM. They reported that the dermal autograft group had a higher intraoperative final TE volume, but no difference was seen in the number of postoperative in-office expansions or the time to TE/ implant exchange. Major and minor complication rates, as well as total costs, were higher in the ADM group. Cosmetic outcome was similar in the two groups. Histologic analysis showed that integration into the surrounding tissue was better with the autograft, with extensive revascularization and vessel ingrowth.

5.1.2. Delayed breast reconstruction

When delayed breast reconstruction is required to allow time for completion of chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy, the contralateral breast can be used as a template to design the boundaries of the pocket. The surgical procedure is similar to that of immediate reconstruction. Once the preexisting scar is excised, the skin flaps are elevated till the lower margin of the pectoralis major muscle is exposed; the muscle is then lifted in the same fashion as in immediate reconstruction. Alternatively, the subpectoral space can be approached through the muscle itself by a splitting incision running parallel to the muscle fibers. This access spares muscle fibers that will naturally close the incision when they contract. Moreover, as the muscle fibers run perpendicular to the skin incision, the muscle will provide coverage to the TE if skin necrosis should occur. The main drawback is that relatively more extensive skin flap dissection is needed. During delayed reconstruction complete lateral coverage of the TE is not mandatory; thus, the anterior rectus fascia, serratus anterior muscle, and pectoralis minor muscle can be spared without compromising TE coverage and the final cosmetic outcome. Just as in immediate breast reconstruction, precise dissection of the pocket must be achieved by utilizing the same anatomic landmarks, so that proper TE placement is possible. A closed-bulb suction drain is usually placed over the pectoralis muscle prior to skin closure, preventing it from being in contact with the TE [127]. ADM can be applied too, in which case a tunneled drain is placed inside the pocket. The final intraoperative volume of the TE follows the rules of immediate setting.

complete coverage of the TE, which represents a remarkable adjunction in the field of alloplastic breast reconstruction. The ADM, which may be of fetal bovine, porcine, or human cadaver origin, acts as a pectoralis extender, covering the inferolateral portion of the TE and obviating the need for elevation of the serratus anterior muscle, the pectoralis minor muscle, and the rectus abdominis fascia [22,92–97]. The ADM is typically a 8 \times 16 cm sheet of dermal matrix that is sutured to the detached pectoralis major muscle edge and functions as a sling or hammock for the TE. Advocates of ADM point out the many advantages deriving from its use: for example, larger pocket size; higher intraoperative fill volume (even double) [38]; increased expansion and enhanced definition of the lower pole, resulting in more natural shape and ptosis; less lower pole rippling; increased control over the IMF and the lateral mammary border; reduced postoperative pain; faster postoperative expansion; and lower capsular contracture formation [97e112]. However, these aesthetic advantages have mostly been accepted on the basis of empirical or anecdotal evidence [113e115]. Some authors have reported increased early complication rates (hematoma, seroma formation, and infection) with the use of ADM [103,116]. Moreover, ADM can cost between \$2100 and \$3400, depending on the size of the dermal sheet required [117]. Despite this, Krishnan et al. [118] found ADM to be a cost-effective

5.2. Expansion

Tissue expansion is normally started from the 10th to the 14th

postoperative day (POD) as outpatient expansion, and is usually repeated every 1–4 weeks according to the patient will [38]. The TE is inflated with 60–120 cc of saline each time, the volume being decided by the clinical appearance of the mastectomy flaps and patient discomfort.

Early and fast tissue expansion makes the process easier, because the more one waits the more scar is produced [128]. Indeed, tissue expansion becomes hard at 6–8 weeks after surgery [73]. The desired expansion is usually achieved by 2 months. However, second stage reconstruction takes place only after 6 months (even though exchange to final implant is also reported at 6 weeks after the final expansion) in order to let the tissues relax so that, once the TE is replaced with the definitive implant, the breast will have a naturally ptotic appearance [62,73,129]. For the same reason, it is common practice to overexpand the TE to 110%–120% of the required volume.

5.3. Second stage

As in delayed breast reconstruction, the preexisting scar (which usually appears widened as a consequence of tissue expansion) is excised. Once the pectoralis major muscle is exposed, access to the submuscular pocket is achieved either by the muscle-splitting approach or via a layered technique. Indeed, muscle and capsule are often not easily discernible and therefore both muscle and capsule are incised as close as possible to the IMF by raising the inferior mastectomy skin flap. At this point, there is no consensus on whether a capsulotomy or a capsulectomy is to be performed. Nava et al. [36] advocates complete capsulectomy followed by the redefinition of the IMF by suturing the lower edge of the superficial fascia to the chest wall musculature using continuous absorbable 1/ 0 stitches. Hall-Findlay et al. [38] deem complete capsulectomy unnecessary as it can lead to loss of soft tissue coverage, jeopardize blood supply to the overlying skin, and increase inflammation. They recommend a circumferential capsulotomy into the subcutaneous fat, along with a zigzag inferior pole capsulotomy, to allow lower pole distension and overhang. Moreover, direct capsulotomies can be added in areas that need to expand further, while capsulorrhaphy by means of 2-0 silk sutures is used for correcting overexpanded areas. When necessary, the IMF is re-established by suturing the undersurface of the mastectomy flap to the expander capsule by means of absorbable braided sutures.

Cordeiro et al. [73] also perform a circumferential capsulotomy. Indeed, radial scoring of the capsule ensures centripetal release only, with no anterior release, and is best suited for a constricted tuberous breast but not for the more frequent anteroposteriorly constricted breast. Circumferential capsulotomy is performed at the level of the tightest portion of the capsule (i.e., 1–2 cm anterior to the chest wall) and usually ensures a 1–7 cm anterior release.

7. Secondary procedure

NAC reconstruction can be performed as early as the 2nd postoperative month after second stage reconstruction by means of local flaps; tattooing is delayed till 6 weeks after NAC reconstruction [131].

Rigotti et al. [132] were the first to describe the effectiveness of autologous fat grafting (AFG) for the treatment of radio-induced damage to soft tissue in the reconstructed breast. Serra et al. [133] reported improved outcome in irradiated patients who have undergone AFG plus TE-based breast reconstruction. Indeed, AFG has been shown to thicken the subcutaneous tissue and also to improve the texture of the irradiated skin by enhancing its vascular supply [134].

This regenerative potential and therapeutic effect of the AFG that go beyond simple filling capability is mainly due to the presence adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) [135e140]. ASCs are an adult population of mesenchymal stem cells that can differentiate into multiple cell lineages and secrete paracrine factors [141e145]. Thus, angiogenesis and wound healing are strongly enhanced, leading to higher fat-graft survival as well as dermal and subcutaneous tissue regeneration [146–148].

In addition to being able to reduce radio-induced damage, AFG can also correct any residual contour deformities following implant breast reconstruction [149,150]. AFG appears to be a feasible and effective technique for correction of the many deformities that may occur in any breast quadrant, including medially located parasternal deformities, upper visible implant edges, asymmetry with the contralateral breast, and upper outer defects underneath the anterior axillary fold [151].

8. Complications

Complications following TE-based breast reconstruction are divided into early (occurring by the 3rd postoperative month and/ or prior to any adjuvant therapy) and late complications [152]. Early complications can be further divided into minor and major ones [153]. Complications include infection, hematoma, seroma, pain, skin flap necrosis, huge wound healing breakdown, capsular contracture, NAC necrosis, and implant exposure/loss. Any complication that can be managed conservatively is identified as a minor complication; a major complication is usually one that calls for secondary procedures. Hematoma formation, seen in 0%–5.8% of patients, is usually clinically recognized by the first or second POD [154]. If drainage is functioning properly, the bleeding can be recognized and managed immediately. However, when clots obstruct the drainage, blood may gather within the pocket, and revision surgery is usually necessary. Hematoma of any size should be immediately evacuated as it may lead to capsular contracture. Seroma can usually be avoided with a closed suction system, but if extensive, open drainage may be necessary. Erythema, per se, is a normal body reaction and will eventually resolve by itself. However, when associated with the classical signs and symptoms of infection, intravenous antibiotics should be administered as soon as possible. Infection rates range from 0% to 7% and if not correctly treated, the TE/implant will have to be removed and reinserted at about 3–6 months [155]. Skin envelope necrosis occurs in 0%–21% of patients [154]. Partial or complete mastectomy flap necrosis may be seen, usually starting from the suture line; however, the muscles of the pocket should be able to cover the implant. A limited area of necrosis may be managed conservatively with topical antibiotics and local wound care, but for wider areas curettage of the superficial layer and advanced wound dressing are mandatory. When the area of

The selected implant can then be inserted in place. A closed suction drain is usually placed prior to wound closure with double-layered braided absorbable sutures.

6. Postoperative care

TE-implant based reconstruction usually does not require any special postoperative care. Prophylactic antibiotics are commonly administered, but should be limited to the first 24 postoperative hours since longer use increases the risks of drug-resistant bacteria and more severe infections [130]. Postoperative pain is usually not long lasting and can be easily managed with analgesics.

A supportive brassiere should be worn for the first postoperative month. Patients should avoid intense physical activity for the first 2–3 weeks. The usual surgical wound care practices should follow. Drainage can be safely removed once the output is <30 mL/day.

skin necrosis is very large, implant removal may be the only solution; TE/implant reinsertion should not be rescheduled earlier than 3–6 months after surgery. Salvage surgery, with local advancement of the remaining envelope after excision of the necrotic area or distant flap, may also be performed.

Reported rates of necrosis of the NAC range from 0% to 48%, but is <10% in most series [156].

Malfunction of the expander implant in the early postoperative period is rare. Proper placement of the expander and confirmation of port patency after skin closure during the operative procedure should be sufficient to avoid need for any revision surgery.

Late complications may occur at any time in the patient's lifetime, starting from the 3rd postoperative month. Delayed implant deflations and rupture rate increase as the implants ages, with the reported rate being 15% at 3–10 years after implantation [36]. Diagnosis may not be easy; breast size and shape will not necessarily change, and mammograms do not always detect implant rupture. Magnetic resonance imaging, with sensitivity of 86.7% and specificity of 88.5%, is the gold standard for detecting implant rupture [157]. In case of documented implant rupture, exploration and implant exchange are required.

Capsular contracture (Baker III/IV) is generally the more frequent complication, occurring in 16%–30% of patients [158]. The incidence of capsular contracture increases by 1% per breast per year [159]. Wrinkling may also occur in 20%–25% of patients.

In 2006, Cordeiro et al. [19] reported one of the largest series (1522) of TE-based breast reconstruction. The overall early complication rate (5.8%) and the complication rate after TE insertion (8.5%) were significantly higher than that after TE/implant exchange (2.7%). The most common perioperative complication was infection (2.5%), followed by native skin flap necrosis (2.0%). The complication rate was higher in immediate reconstruction than in delayed reconstruction (8.6% vs. 3.8%). Early complications caused expander explantation in 2.7% of the reconstructions.

Basta et al. [160] performed a head-to-head meta-analysis of outcomes, comparing conventional two-stage implantation with direct-to-implant reconstruction. It emerged that even though both are successful reconstructive strategies with similar infection, seroma, hematoma, and contracture rates, the direct-to-implant approach was associated with greater risk of flap necrosis and implant failure.

As previously stated, TE-based breast reconstructions after postmastectomy radiation therapy consistently show high rates of acute and chronic complications, as well as poor aesthetic outcomes [161]. Even modern radiation delivery techniques do not lower the complication rates. Severe capsular contracture is one of most common complications; it can occur when TE/implant exchange has been already performed prior to adjuvant radiation therapy. The reported incidence in literature ranges between 16% and 68% [27,28]. Ascherman et al. [162] conduced a retrospective study in which they evaluated the complications and aesthetic outcomes of 104 patients who underwent TE-based reconstruction; 27 of these patients also underwent radiation therapy, either before or after mastectomy. The overall complication rate was 40.7% for irradiated breasts vs. 16.7% for non-irradiated breasts. Removal or replacement of the implant was performed in 18.5% of the irradiated breasts vs. 4.2% of the non-irradiated breasts. The extrusion rate was also higher for the irradiated breasts (14.8% vs. 0%). Benediktsson and Perbeck [163] conducted a similar study and reported that the capsular contracture rate was significantly higher for irradiated breasts than for non-irradiated ones (41.7% vs. 14.5%). On the other hand, Codeiro et al. [59] reported an implant removal/ replacement rate of 11.1% and acceptable aesthetic outcomes in most patients. Severe (Baker IV) capsular contracture occurred only

in 5.9% of irradiated reconstructed breasts in their series.

9. Outcomes

Satisfaction rates in patients undergoing TE/implant-based breast reconstruction range from 61% to 78%; in comparison, patients undergoing autologous breast reconstruction have rates ranging from 72% to 79% [164,165]. Clough et al. [166] noted that satisfaction with aesthetic results shows a decline from the initial rate of 86% at 2 years to 54% at 5 years after implant reconstruction. This decrease is multifactorial but may be partly attributable to late complications, such as capsular contracture and asymmetric contralateral ptosis. Patients with bilateral prosthesis (contralateral augmentation) usually have relatively higher satisfaction rates (79.2%), which may be partly due to the improved shape of the breast and better symmetry achieved with bilateral reconstruction [167].

10. Conclusions

TE-based breast reconstruction is a safe, reliable, and efficacious procedure [19,91,168]. Skin- and nipple-sparing mastectomies allow preservation of native soft-tissue of the breast and thus enable breast contour reconstruction with little manipulation of surrounding tissues [170,171].

Due to refinements in surgical techniques and implant technology, improved cosmetic outcomes are being achieved. the adjunctive use of ADM had further broadened the alloplastic breast reconstruction indication and also enhanced aesthetic outcomes. While AFG is an effective secondary procedure to correct any residual asymmetry with the contralateral breast or improve the radio-induced skin damage thanks to the presence of ASCs [169]. Appropriate pocket positioning and expander placement are mandatory for a satisfactory final result. More realistic reconstruction, even in patients with aggressive surgical resections, can now be obtained, thanks to advances in cohesivesilicon implants. Autologous reconstruction results in a higher satisfaction rate and should be considered the gold standard for breast reconstruction in the setting of radiation injury. However, many patients ask for TE/implant-based reconstruction to avoid a donor defect, limit recovery time and potential morbidity, and to exercise choice in the size of the reconstructed breast. Surgeons must deal with the patient's desire and expectations and it is important to ensure that the patient has realistic expectations so that there is no disappointment with the final cosmetic results. The reconstructive surgeon must aim for balance and symmetry and ensure that the patient gets the best cosmetic outcome achievable.

Ethical approval

Nothing to declare.

Sources of funding

Nothing to declare.

Author contribution

Dr. Nicolo' Bertozzi, writing. Dr. Mariana Pesce, data collections. Prof. Pierluigi Santi, data collections. Prof. Edoardo Raposio, study design.

Con icts of interest

Nothing to declare.

Guarantor

Dr. Nicolo' Bertozzi. Dr. Mariana Pesce. Prof. Pierluigi Santi. Prof. Edoardo Raposio.

Consent

Nothing to declare.

References

- [1] L.A. Jansen, S.A. Macadam, The use of AlloDerm in post-mastectomy alloplastic breast reconstruction: part I. A systematic review, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 127 (2011) 2232–2244.
- [2] M.B. Nava, U. Cortinovis, J. Ottolenghi, et al., Skin-reducing mastectomy, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 118 (2006) 603–610.
- [3] G.W. Carlson, J. Bostwick, T.M. Styblo, et al., Skin-sparing mastectomy. Oncologic and reconstructive considerations, Ann. Surg. 225 (1997) 570–575.
- [4] S. Folli, M. Mingozzi, A. Curcio, F. Buggi, C. Rossi, Nipple-sparing mastectomy: an alternative technique for large ptotic breasts, J. Am. Coll. Surg. 220 (2015) e65–e69.
- [5] C. Rossi, M. Mingozzi, A. Curcio, F. Buggi, S. Folli, Nipple areola complex sparing mastectomy, Gland. Surg. 4 (2015) 528–540.
- [6] S.K. Al-Ghazal, L. Fallow eld, R.W. Blamey, Comparison of psychological aspects and patient satisfaction following breast conserving surgery, simple mastectomy and breast reconstruction, Eur. J. Cancer 36 (2000) 1938–1943.
- [7] J.M. Serletti, J. Fosnot, J.A. Nelson, J.J. Disa, L.P. Bucky, Breast reconstruction after breast cancer, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 127 (2011) 124e–135e.
- [8] A. Alderman, E. Wilkins, J. Lowery, et al., Determinants of patient satisfaction in postmastectomy breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 106 (2000) 769–776.
- [9] C.M. McCarthy, A.F. Klassen, S.J. Cano, et al., Patient satisfaction with postmastectomy breast reconstruction: a comparison of saline and silicone implants, Cancer 116 (2010) 5584–5591.
- [10] A.L. Pusic, A.F. Klassen, A.M. Scott, et al., Development of a new patientreported outcome measure for breast surgery: the BREAST-Q, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 124 (2009) 345–353.
- [11] T. Zhong, C. McCarthy, S. Min, et al., Patient satisfaction and health-related quality of life after autologous tissue breast reconstruction: a prospective analysis of early postoperative outcomes, Cancer 118 (2012) 1701–1709.
- [12] V. Guyomard, S. Leinster, M. Wilkinson, Systematic review of studies of patients' satisfaction with breast reconstruction after mastectomy, Breast 16 (2007) 547–567.
- [13] S. Potter, Z. Winters, Does breast reconstruction improve quality of life for women facing mastectomy? A systematic review, Eur. J. Surg. Oncol. 34 (2008) 1181.

inflammatory response in capsule formation in reconstructive breast surgery, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 126 (2010) 1842–1847.

- [24] T.L. Hartzell, A.H. Taghinia, J. Chang, et al., The use of human acellular dermal matrix for the correction of secondary de- formities after breast augmentation: results and costs, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 126 (2010) 1711–1720.
- [25] D.A. Hudson, K.G. Adams, S. Adams, Autologous dermal graft in breast reconstruction, Ann. Plast. Surg. 68 (2012) 253–256.
- [26] P. Maguina, R. Hoffman, S. Szczerba, Autologous dermal graft in breast reconstruction and treatment of breast implant malposition, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 170e–171e.
- [27] N. D'Souza, G. Darmanin, Z. Fedorowicz, Immediate versus delayed reconstruction following surgery for breast cancer, Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 9 (2011) 1–26.
- [28] C. Fischbacher, Immediate versus delayed breast reconstruc-tion, in: Bazian, Ltd. (Ed.), STEER: Succinct and Timely Evaluated Evidence Reviews, Wessex Institute for Health Research and Development, University of Southampton, London, 2002, pp. 4–16.
- [29] B. Tsoi, N.I. Ziolkowski, A. Thoma, K. Campbell, D. O'Reilly, R. Goeree, Safety of tissue expander/implant versus autologous abdominal tissue breast reconstruction in postmastectomy breast cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 133 (2014) 234–249.
- [30] Z.E. Winters, J.R. Benson, A.L. Pusic, A systematic review of the clinical evidence to guide treatment recommendations in breast reconstruction based on patient- reported outcome measures and health-related quality of life, Ann. Surg. 252 (2010) 929–942.
- [31] C.G. Neumann, The expansion of an area of skin by progressive distention of a subcutaneous balloon, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 19 (1957) 124–130.
- [32] C. Radovan, Reconstruction of the breast after radical mastectomy using temporary expander, ASPRS Plast. Surg. Forum 1 (1978) 41.
- [33] C. Radovan, Breast reconstruction after mastectomy using the temporary expander, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 69 (1982) 195–208.
- [34] E.D. Austad, G.L. Rose, A self-inflating tissue expander, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 70 (1982) 588–594.
- [35] V. Czerny, Plastischer ersatz der brusthus durch ein lipoma, Zent. Chir. 27 (1895) 72.
- [36] M.B. Nava, G. Catanuto, A. Pennati, V.V. Cividin, A. Spano, Expander-implants breast reconstruction, in: P.C. Neligan (Ed.), Plastic Surgery, third ed., Elsevier Ltd., New York, 2013, pp. 336–369.
- [37] N. Handel, M.J. Silverstein, Breast cancer diagnosis and prognosis in augmented women, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 118 (2006) 587–596.
- [38] J.D. McCue, M. Migliori, B.L. Cunningham, Expanders and breast reconstruction with gel and saline implants, in: E.J. Hall-Findlay, G.R.D. Evans (Eds.), Aesthetic and Reconstructive Surgery of the Breast, first ed., Elsevier Ltd., New York, 2010, pp. 29–50.
- [39] J.F. Delgado, R.F. García-Guilarte, M.R. Palazuelo, et al., Immediate breast reconstruction with direct, anatomic, gel-cohesive, extra-projection prosthesis: 400 cases, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 1599–1605.
- [40] J.M. Fernandez Delgado, J.R. Martínez-M endez, J. de Santiago, et al., Immediate breast reconstruction (IBR) with direct, anatomic, extra-projection prosthesis: 102 cases, Ann. Plast. Surg. 58 (2007) 99–104.
- [41] O. Kraemer, M. Andersen, E. Siim, Breast reconstruction and tissue expansion in irradiated versus not irradiated women after mastectomy, Scand. J. Plast. Reconstr. Surg. Hand Surg. 30 (1996) 201–206.
- [42] E.A. Krueger, E.G. Wilkins, M. Strawderman, Complications and patient satisfaction following expander/implant breast reconstruction with and

- [14] B. Teimourian, M.N. Adham, Survey of patients' responses to breast reconstruction, Ann. Plast. Surg. 9 (1982) 321–325.
- [15] W.S. Schain, Breast reconstruction: update of psychosocial and pragmatic concerns, Cancer 68 (1991) 1170–1175.
- [16] E.M. Hirsch, A.K. Seth, G.A. Dumanian, et al., Outcomes of tissue expander/ implant breast reconstruction in the setting of prereconstruction radiation, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 129 (2012) 354–361.
- [17] A.M. Baschnagel, C. Shah, J.B. Wilkinson, et al., Failure rate and cosmesis of immediate tissue expander/implant breast reconstruction after postmastectomy irradiation, Clin. Breast Cancer 12 (2012) 428–432.
- [18] C.M. McCarthy, B.J. Mehrara, E. Riedel, et al., Predicting complications following expander/implant breast reconstruc- tion: an outcomes analysis based on preoperative clinical risk, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 121 (2008) 1886–1892.
- [19] P. Cordeiro, C. McCarthy, A single surgeon's 12-year experience with tissue expander/implant breast reconstruction: part I A prospective analysis of early complications, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 118 (2006) 825–831.
- [20] J. Nolan, R.A. Jenkins, K. Kurihara, R.C. Schultz, The acute effects of cigarette smoke exposure on experimental skin flaps, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 75 (1985) 544–551.
- [21] N. Shaikh-Naidu, B. Preminger, K. Rogers, P. Messina, L. Gayle, Determinants of aesthetic satisfaction following TRAM and implant breast reconstruction, Ann. Plast. Surg. 52 (2004) 465–470.
- [22] K.H. Breuing, S.M. Warren, Immediate bilateral breast reconstruction with implants and inferolateral AlloDerm slings, Ann. Plast. Surg. 55 (2005) 232–239.
- [23] C.B. Basu, M. Leong, M.J. Hicks, Acellular cadaveric dermis de- creases the

- without radiotherapy, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 49 (2001) 713–721.
- [43] A.V. Tallet, N. Salem, V. Moutardier, et al., Radiotherapy and immediate twostage breast reconstruction with a tissue expander and implant: complications and esthetic results, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 57 (2003) 136–142.
- [44] C.M. McCarthy, A.L. Pusic, J.J. Disa, et al., Unilateral postoperative chest wall radiotherapy in bilateral tissue expander/implant reconstruction patients: a prospective outcomes analysis, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 116 (2005) 1642–1647.
- [45] P.R. Anderson, G. Freedman, N. Nicolaou, et al., Postmastectomy chest wall radiation to a temporary tissue expander or permanent breast implant is there a difference in complication rates? Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 74 (2009) 81–85.
- [46] J. Steven, M.D. Kronowitz, L. Geoffrey, M.D. Robb, Radiation therapy and breast reconstruction: a critical review of the literature, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 124 (2009) 395–408.
- [47] E. Fisher, J. Dignam, E. Tan-Chiu, et al., Pathologic findings from the National surgical adjuvant breast project (NSABP): eight-year update of protocol B-17, Cancer 86 (1999) 429–438.
- [48] C. Smigal, A. Jemal, E. Ward, et al., Trends in breast cancer by race and ethnicity: update 2006, CA Cancer J. Clin. 56 (2006) 168–183.
- [49] M. Overgaard, P.S. Hansen, J. Overgaard, et al., Postoperative radiotherapy in high-risk premenopausal women with breast cancer who receive adjuvant chemotherapy, N. Engl. J. Med. 337 (1997) 949–955.
- [50] K. Ragaz, S.M. Jackson, N. Le, et al., Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy in node-positive premenopausal women with breast cancer, N. Engl. J. Med. 337 (1997) 956–962.
- [51] J. Ragaz, I.A. Olivotto, J.J. Spinelli, et al., Locoregional radiation therapy in patients with high-risk breast cancer receiving adjuvant chemotherapy: 20year results of the British Co- lumbia randomized trial, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 97 (2005) 116–126.
- [52] J. Harris, P. Halpin-Murphy, M. McNeese, N.P. Mendenhall, M. Morrow,

N.J. Robert, Consensus statement on postmastec- tomy radiation therapy, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 44 (1999) 989–990.

- [53] A. Recht, S.B. Edge, L.J. Solin, et al., Postmastectomy radiotherapy: clinical practice guidelines of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, J. Clin. Oncol. 19 (2001) 1539–1569.
- [54] P.T. Truong, I.A. Olivotto, T.J. Whelan, Steering committee on clinical practice guidelines for the care and treatment of breast cancer. Clinical practice guidelines for the care and treatment of breast cancer: 16. Postmastectomy locoregional radiotherapy, CMAJ 170 (2004) 1263–1273.
- [55] S.J. Kronowitz, G.L. Robb, Breast reconstruction with postmas- tectomy radiation therapy: current issues, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 114 (2004) 950–960.
- [56] S.J. Kronowitz, Immediate versus delayed reconstruction, Clin. Plast. Surg. 96 (2007) 39–50.
- [57] S.J. Kronowitz, H.M. Kuerer, Advances and surgical decision-making for breast reconstruction, Cancer 107 (2006) 893–907.
- [58] S.J. Kronowitz, K.K. Hunt, H.M. Kuerer, et al., Delayed-immediate breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 113 (2004) 1617–1628.
- [59] P.G. Cordeiro, A.L. Pusic, J.J. Disa, B. McCormick, K. VanZee, Irradiation after immediate tissue expander/implant breast reconstruction: outcomes, complications, aesthetic results, and satisfaction among 156 patients, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 113 (2004) 877–881.
- [60] Sj Kronowitz, G.L. Robb, Radiation therapy and breast reconstruction: a critical review of the literature, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 124 (2009) 395–408.
- [61] E. Raposio, V. Belgrano, P. Santi, C. Chiorri, Which is the ideal breast Size?: some social clues for plastic surgeons, Ann. Plast. Surg. 76 (2016) 340–345.
- [62] J. Fan, E. Raposio, J. Wang, R.E. Nordstr om, Development of the inframammary fold and ptosis in breast reconstruction with textured tissue expanders, Aesthet. Plast. Surg. 26 (2002) 219–222.
- [63] S.W. Chan, P.S. Cheung, S.H. Lam, Cosmetic outcome and percentage of breast volume excision in oncoplastic breast conserving surgery, World J. Surg. 34 (2010) 1447–1452.
- [64] K.B. Clough, T. Ihrai, S. Oden, G. Kaufman, E. Massey, C. Nos, Oncoplastic surgery for breast cancer based on tumour location and a quadrant-perquadrant atlas, Br. J. Surg. 99 (2012) 1389–1395.
- [65] D. Mauri, N. Pavlidis, J.P. Ioannidis, Neoadjuvant versus adjuvant systemic treatment in breast cancer: a meta-analysis, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 97 (2005) 188–194.
- [66] S.J. Kronowitz, Delayed-immediate breast reconstruction: technical and timing considerations, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 463–474.
- [67] K.B. Clough, G.J. Kaufman, C. Nos, I. Buccimazza, I.M. Sarfati, Improving breast cancer surgery: a classification and quadrant per quadrant atlas for oncoplastic surgery, Ann. Surg. Oncol. 17 (2010) 1375–1391.
- [68] H.D. Bear, S. Anderson, A. Brown, et al., The effect on tumor response of adding sequential preoperative docetaxel to preoperative doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide: preliminary results from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project Protocol B-27, J. Clin. Oncol. 21 (2003) 4165–4174.
- [69] P.G. Cordeiro, C.R. Albornoz, B. McCormick, C.A. Hudis, Q. Hu, A. Heerdt, et al., What is the optimum timing of post-mastectomy radiotherapy in two-stage Prosthetic Reconstruction: radiation to the tissue expander or permanent implant? Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 135 (2015) 1518–1526.
- [70] E. Raposio, P. Caregnato, P. Barabino, et al., Computer-based preoperative planning for breast reconstruction in the woman with unilateral breast hypoplasia, Minerva Chir. 57 (2002) 711–714.
- [71] E. Raposio, S. Cicchetti, M. Adami, R.G. Ciliberti, P.L. Santi, Computer planning for breast reconstruction by tissue expansion: an update, Plast. Reconstr.

371-375.

- [82] A. Losken, T.M. Styblo, T.G. Schaefer, G.W. Carlson, The use of fluorescein dye as a predictor of mastectomy skin flap via- bility following autologous tissue reconstruction, Ann. Plast. Surg. 61 (2008) 24–29.
- [83] E. Komorowska-Timek, G.C. Gurtner, Intraoperative perfusion mapping with laser-assisted indocyanine green imaging can predict and prevent complications in immediate breast re- construction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 1065–1073.
- [84] J.J. Disa, D.D. Ad-El, S.M. Cohen, P.G. Cordeiro, D.A. Hidalgo, The premature removal of tissue expanders in breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 104 (1999) 1662–1665.
- [85] G.P. Maxwell, P.A. Falcone, Eighty-four consecutive breast reconstructions using a textured silicone tissue expander, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 89 (1992) 1022–1034.
- [86] D.C. Hammond, Technique and results using MemoryShape implants in aesthetic and reconstructive breast surgery, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 134 (2014) 16S–26S.
- [87] S.L. Spear, C.J. Spittler, Breast reconstruction with implants and expanders, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 107 (2001) 177–187.
- [88] W.P. Adams, J.L. Rios, S.J. Smith, Enhancing patient outcomes in aesthetic and reconstructive breast surgery using triple antibiotic breast irrigation: sixyear prospective clinical study, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 117 (2006) 30–36.
- [89] T.C. Wiener, The role of betadine irrigation in breast augmentation, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 119 (2007) 12–15.
- [90] B.R. Burkhardt, E. Eades, The effect of Biocell texturing and povidone-iodine irrigation on capsular contracture around saline-inflatable breast implants, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 96 (1995) 1317–1325.
- [91] M.M. Mortenson, P.D. Schneider, V.P. Khatri, et al., Immediate breast reconstruction after mastectomy increases wound complications: however, initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy is not delayed, Arch. Surg. 139 (2004) 988–991.
- [92] P.G. Cordeiro, C.M. McCarthy, A single surgeon's 12-year experience with tissue expander/implant breast reconstruction: Part II. An analysis of long-term complications, aesthetic outcomes, and patient satisfaction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 118 (2006) 832–839.
- [93] C.A. Salzberg, Nonexpansive immediate breast reconstruction using human acellular tissue matrix graft (AlloDerm), Ann. Plast. Surg. 57 (2006) 1–5.
- [94] A.S. Colwell, B. Damjanovic, B. Zahedi, et al., Retrospective review of 331 consecutive immediate single-stage implant reconstructions with acellular dermal matrix: indications, complications, trends, and costs, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 128 (2011) 1170–1178.
- [95] A.K. Antony, C.M. McCarthy, P.G. Cordeiro, et al., Acellular human dermis implantation in 153 immediate two-stage tissue expander breast reconstructions: determining the incidence and significant predictors of complications, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 1606–1614.
- [96] R. Endress, M.S.S. Choi, G.K. Lee, Use of fetal bovine acellular dermal xenograft with tissue expansion for staged breast reconstruction, Ann. Plast. Surg. 68 (2012) 338–341.
- [97] M.H. Zheng, J. Chen, Y. Kirilak, et al., Porcine small intestine submucosa (SIS) is not an acellular collagenous matrix and contains porcine DNA: possible implications in human implantation, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. 73 (2005) 61–67.
- [98] S.L. Spear, P.M. Parikh, E. Reisin, et al., Acellular dermis-assisted breast reconstruction, Aesthet. Plast. Surg. 32 (2008) 418–425.
- [99] J.W. Parks, S.E. Hammond, W.A. Walsh, R.L. Adams, R.G. Chandler, E.A. Luce, Human acellular dermis versus no acellular dermis tissue expansion breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 130 (2012) 739–746.

42

- Surg. 113 (2004) 2095–2097.
- [72] I. Porro, A. Schenone, M. Fato, E. Raposio, E. Molinari, F. Beltrame, An integrated environment for plastic surgery support: building virtual patients, simulating interventions, and supporting intraoperative decisions, Comput. Med. Imaging Graph 29 (2005) 385–394.
- [73] P.G. Cordeiro, L. Jazayeri, Two-stage implant-based breast reconstruction: an evolution of the conceptual and technical approach over a two-decade period, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 138 (2016) 1–11.
- [74] C.M. Chen, J.J. Disa, V. Sacchini, et al., Nipple-sparing mastectomy and immediate tissue expander/implant breast recon- struction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 124 (2009) 1772–1780.
- [75] C.A. Garcia-Etienne, H.S. Cody Iii III, J.J. Disa, P. Cordeiro, V. Sacchini, Nipplesparing mastectomy: initial experience at the memorial sloan-kettering cancer center and a comprehensive review of literature, Breast J. 15 (2009) 440–449.
- [76] A. Wijayanayagam, A.S. Kumar, R.D. Foster, L.J. Esserman, Optimizing the total skin-sparing mastectomy, Arch. Surg. 143 (2008) 38–45.
- [77] A.S. Colwell, O. Tessler, A.M. Lin, et al., Breast reconstruction following nipple-sparing mastectomy: predictors of complications, reconstruction outcomes, and 5-year trends, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 133 (2014) 496–506.
- [78] C.D. Muntan, M.J. Sundine, R.D. Rink, R.D. Acland, Inframammary fold: a histologic reappraisal, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 105 (2000) 549–556.
- [79] S. Bayati, B.R. Seckel, Inframammary crease ligament, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 95 (1995) 501–508.
- [80] B.T. Phillips, S.T. Lanier, N. Conkling, et al., Intraoperative perfusion techniques can accurately predict mastectomy skin flap necrosis in breast reconstruction: results of a prospective trial, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 129 (2012) 778e–788e.
- [81] R. Singer, C.M. Lewis, J.D. Franklin, J.B. Lynch, Fluorescein test for prediction of flap viability during breast reconstructions, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 61 (1978)

- [100] R.J. Zienowicz, E. Karacaoglu, Implant-based breast reconstruction with allograft, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 120 (2007) 373–381.
- [101] B.M. Topol, E.F. Dalton, T. Ponn, et al., Immediate single- stage breast reconstruction using implants and human acellular dermal tissue matrix with adjustment of the lower pole of the breast to reduce unwanted lift, Ann. Plast. Surg. 61 (2008) 494–499.
- [102] V. Bindingnavele, M. Gaon, K.S. Ota, et al., Use of acellular cadaveric dermis and tissue expansion in postmastectomy breast reconstruction, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 60 (2007) 1214–1218.
- [103] H. Sbitany, S.N. Sandeen, A.N. Amal, et al., Acellular dermis-assisted prosthetic breast reconstruction versus complete submuscular coverage: a headto- head comparison of outcomes, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 124 (2009) 1735–1740.
- [104] Y.S. Chun, K. Verma, H. Rosen, et al., Implant-based breast reconstruction using acellular dermal matrix and the risk of postoperative complications, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 429–436.
- [105] S. Becker, M. Saint-Cyr, C. Wong, et al., AlloDerm versus DermaMatrix in immediate expander-based breast reconstruction: a preliminary comparison of complication profiles and material compliance, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 123 (2009) 1–6.
- [106] C.F. Bellows, D. Albo, D.H. Berger, et al., Abdominal wall repair using human acellular dermis, Am. J. Surg. 194 (2007) 192–198.
- [107] B. Buinewicz, B. Rosen, Acellular cadaveric dermis (AlloDerm): a new alternative for abdominal hernia repair, Ann. Plast. Surg. 52 (2004) 188–194.
- [108] J.Y. Kim, D.W. Buck 2nd, O. Kloeters, et al., Reconstruction of a recurrent fi rst dorsal web space defect using acellular dermis, Hand 2 (2007) 240–244.
- [109] J.Y. Kim, J.M. Bullocks, C.B. Basu, et al., Dermal composite flaps reconstructed from acellular dermis: a novel method of neourethral reconstruction, Plast.

Reconstr. Surg. 115 (2005) 96e-100e.

- [110] C.E. Butler, H.N. Langstein, S.J. Kronowitz, Pelvic, abdominal, and chest wall reconstruction with AlloDerm in patients at increased risk for mesh-related complications, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 116 (2005) 1263–1275.
- [111] J.M. Chaplin, P.D. Costantino, M.E. Wolpoe, et al., Use of an acellular dermal allograft for dural replacement: an experimental study, Neurosurgery 45 (1999) 320–327.
- [112] K. Heyer, D.W. Buck 2nd, C. Kato, et al., Reversed acellular dermis: failure of graft incorporation in primary tissue expander breast reconstruction resulting in recurrent breast cellulitis, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 66e–68e.
- [113] A. Losken, Early results using sterilized acellular human dermis (Neoform) in post-mastectomy tissue expander breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 123 (2009) 1654–1658.
- [114] S.L. Spear, M.E. Carter, J.C. Ganz, The correction of capsular contracture by conversion to dual-plane positioning: technique and outcomes, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 112 (2003) 456–466.
- [115] T.J. Nguyen, J.N. Carey, A.K. Wong, Use of human acellular dermal matrix in implant-based breast reconstruction: evaluating the evidence, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 65 (2011) 1553–1561.
- [116] J.D. Namnoum, Expander/implant reconstruction with AlloDerm: recent experience, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 124 (2009) 387–394.
- [117] K.E. Weichman, S.C. Wilson, A.L. Weinstein, et al., The use of acellular dermal matrix in immediate two-stage tissue expander breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 129 (2012) 1049–1058.
- [118] W.F. Chen, D. Barounis, R. Kalimuthu, A novel cost-saving approach to the use of acellular dermal matrix (AlloDerm) in postmastectomy breast and nipple reconstructions, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 479–481.
- [119] N.M. Krishnan, A. Chatterjee, K.M. Rosenkranz, S.G. Powell, J.F. Nigriny, D.C. Vidal, The cost effectiveness of acellular dermal matrix in expander—implant immediate breast reconstruction, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 67 (2014) 468–476.
- [120] J.Y. Kim, A.A. Davila, S. Persing, et al., A meta-analysis of human acellular dermis and submuscular tissue expander breast reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 129 (2012) 28–41.
- [121] M.M. Vu, J.Y. Kim, Current opinions on indications and algorithms for acellular dermal matrix use in primary prosthetic breast reconstruction, Gland. Surg. 4 (2015) 195–203.
- [122] S.W. Jordan, N. Khavanin, N.A. Fine, J.Y. Kim, An algorithmic approach for selective acellular dermal matrix use in immediate two-stage breast reconstruction: indications and outcomes, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 134 (2014) 178–188.
- [123] P.V. van Deventer, F.R. Graewe, E. Würinger, Improving the longevity and results of mastopexy and breast reduction procedures: reconstructing an internal breast support system with biocompatible mesh to replace the supporting function of the ligamentous suspension, Aesthet. Plast. Surg. 36 (2012) 578–589.
- [124] H.P. de Bruijn, S. Johannes, Mastopexy with 3D preshaped mesh for longterm results: development of the internal bra system, Aesthet. Plast. Surg. 32 (2008) 757–765.
- [125] D.A. Hudson, K.G. Adams, S. Adams, Autologous dermal graft in breast reconstruction, Ann. Plast. Surg. 68 (2012) 253–256.
- [126] P. Maguina, R. Hoffman, S. Szczerba, Autologous dermal graft in breast reconstruction and treatment of breast implant malposition, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 170e–171e.
- [127] M.P. Lynch, M.T. Chung, B.D. Rinker, Dermal autografts as a substitute for acellular dermal matrices (ADM) in tissue expander breast reconstruction: a prospective comparative study, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 66 (2003) 1534–1542.
 [128] S.B. Glasberg, R.A. D'Amico, Use of regenerative human acellular tissue (Alloderm) to reconstruct the abdominal wall following pedicle TRAM flap breast reconstruction surgery, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 118 (2006) 8–15.

- [136] E. Raposio, G. Caruana, M. Petrella, S. Bonomini, M.P. Grieco, A standardized method of isolating adipose-derived stem cells for clinical applications, Ann. Plast. Surg. 76 (2016) 124–126.
- [137] E. Raposio, G. Caruana, S. Bonomini, G. Libondi, A novel and effective strategy for the isolation of adipose-derived stem cells: minimally manipulated adipose-derived stem cells for more rapid and safe stem cell therapy, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 133 (2014) 1406–1409.
- [138] E. Raposio, N. Bertozzi, Isolation of ready-to-use Adipose-derived Stem Cell (ASC) pellet for clinical applications and a comparative overview of alternate methods for ASC isolation, Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol. 16 (2017), 41:1F.17.1-1F.17.
- [139] E. Raposio, S. Bonomini, F. Calderazzi, Isolation of autologous adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells for bone repair, Orthop. Traumatol. Surg. Res. 102 (2016) 909–912.
- [140] E. Raposio, F. Calderazzi, Fat grafting for chronic heel pain following surgery for adult flatfoot deformity: pilot study, Foot (Edinb) 31 (2017) 56–60.
- [141] C. Scanarotti, A.M. Bassi, M. Catalano, C. Guida, R. Coradeghini, C. Falugi, M. Aluigi, P. Santi, E. Raposio, Neurogenic-committed human pre-adipocytes express CYP1A isoforms, Chem. Biol. Interact. 184 (2010) 474–483.
- [142] E. Raposio, C. Guida, I. Baldelli, F. Benvenuto, M. Curto, L. Paleari, F. Filippi, R. Fiocca, G. Robello, P.L. Santi, Characterization and induction of human preadipocytes, Toxicol. In Vitro 21 (2007) 330–334.
- [143] R. Coradeghini, C. Guida, C. Scanarotti, R. Sanguineti, A.M. Bassi, A. Parodi, P.L. Santi, E. Raposio, A comparative study of proliferation and hepatic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells, Cells Tissues Organs 191 (2010) 466–477.
- [144] M.G. Aluigi, R. Coradeghini, C. Guida, C. Scanarotti, A.M. Bassi, C. Falugi, P. Santi, E. Raposio, Pre-adipocytes commitment to neurogenesis 1: preliminary localisation of cholinergic molecules, Cell Biol. Int. 33 (2009) 594–601.
- [145] E. Raposio, C. Guida, R. Coradeghini, C. Scanarotti, A. Parodi, I. Baldelli, R. Fiocca, P.L. Santi, In vitro polydeoxyribonucleotide effects on human preadipocytes, Cell Prolif. 41 (2008) 739–754.
- [146] N. Bertozzi, F. Simonacci, M.P. Grieco, E. Grignaffini, E. Raposio, The biological and clinical basis for the use of adipose-derived stem cells in the field of wound healing, Ann. Med. Surg. 20 (2017) 41–48.
- [147] E. Raposio, N. Bertozzi, S. Bonomini, G. Bernuzzi, A. Formentini, E. Grignaffini, M. Pio Grieco, Adipose-derived stem cells added to platelet-rich plasma for chronic skin ulcer therapy, Wounds 28 (2016) 126–131.
- [148] G. Caruana, N. Bertozzi, E. Boschi, M. Pio Grieco, E. Grignaffini, E. Raposio, Role of adipose-derived stem cells in chronic cutaneous wound healing, Ann. Ital. Chir. 86 (2015) 1–4.
- [149] F. Simonacci, N. Bertozzi, M.P. Grieco, E. Grignaffini, E. Raposio, Procedure, applications, and outcomes of autologous fat grafting, Ann. Med. Surg. 20 (2017) 49–60.
- [150] E. Delay, J. Delpierre, R. Sinna, K. Chekaroua, Comment am eliorer les reconstructions par proth eses? Ann. Chir. Plast. Esth et 50 (2005) 582–594.
- [151] E. Delay, Fat injections to the breast: the lipomodelling technique, in: E.J. Hall-Findlay, G.R.D. Evans (Eds.), Aesthetic and Reconstructive Surgery of the Breast, first ed., Elsevier Ltd., New York, 2010, pp. 171–192.
- [152] A.M. Lardi, M. Ho-Asjoe, P.N. Mohanna, J. Farhadi, Immediate breast reconstruction with acellular dermal matrix: factors affecting outcome, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 67 (2014) 1098–1105.
- [153] K.Y. Lin, A.B. Blechman, D.R. Brenin, Implant-based, two-stage breast reconstruction in the setting of radiation injury: an outcome study, Plast.

- [129] A.L. Pusic, P.G. Cordeiro, An accelerated approach to tissue expansion for breast reconstruction: experience with intra- operative and rapid postoperative expansion in 370 reconstructions, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 111 (2003) 1871–1875.
- [130] J. Fan, E. Raposio, J. Wang, R.E. Nordstr om, Development of the inframammary fold and ptosis in breast reconstruction with textured tissue expanders, Aesthet. Plast. Surg. 26 (2002) 219–222.
- [131] B.T. Phillips, E.G. Halvorson, Antibiotic prophylaxis following implant-based breast reconstruction: what is the evidence? Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 138 (2016) 751–757.
- [132] J. Farhadi, G.K. Maksvytyte, D.J. Schaefer, G. Pierer, O. Scheufler, Reconstruction of the nipple-areola complex: an update, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 59 (2006) 40–53.
- [133] G. Rigotti, A. Marchi, M. Gali e, et al., Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue damage by lipoaspirate transplant: a healing process mediated by adiposederived adult stem cells, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 119 (2007) 1409–1424.
- [134] J.M. Serra-Renom, J.L. Mu noz-Olmo, J.M. Serra-Mestre, Fat grafting in postmastectomy breast reconstruction with expanders and prostheses in patients who have received radiotherapy: formation of new subcutaneous tissue, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 12–18.
- [135] F. Simonacci, N. Bertozzi, M.P. Grieco, E. Grignaffini, E. Raposio, Autologous fat transplantation for breast reconstruction: a literature review, Ann. Med. Surg. (Lond) 12 (2016) 94–100.

- Reconstr. Surg. 129 (2012) 817–823.
- [154] G.P. Gui, S.M. Tan, E.C. Faliakou, et al., Immediate breast reconstruction using biodimensional anatomical permanent expander implants: a prospective analysis of outcome and patient satisfaction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 111 (2003) 139–140.
- [155] S.L. Spear, M.A. Howard, J.H. Boehmler, I. Ducic, M. Low, M.R. Abbruzzesse, The infected or exposed breast implant: management and treatment strategies, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 113 (2004) 1634–1644.
- [156] J.E. Rusby, B.L. Smith, G.P. Gui, Nipple-sparing mastectomy, Br. J. Surg. 97 (2010) 305–316.
- [157] C.U. Herborn, B. Marincek, D. Ermann, et al., Breast augmentation and reconstructive surgery: MR imaging of implant rupture and malignancy, Eur. Radiol. 12 (2002) 2198–2206.
- [158] J.S. Zones, The political and social context of silicone breast implant use in the United States, J. Long. Term. Eff. Med. Implants 1 (1992) 225–241.
- [159] B. Cunningham, The mentor study on contour profile gel silicone memorygel breast implants, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 120 (2007) 33S–39S.
- [160] M.N. Basta, P.A. Gerety, J.P. Serletti, S.J. Kovach, J.P. Fischer, A systematic review and head-to-head meta-analysis of outcomes following direct-to-implant versus conventional two-stage implant reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 136 (2015) 1135–1144.
- [161] S.L. Spear, C. Onyewu, Staged breast reconstruction with saline-filled implants in the irradiated breast: recent trends and therapeutic implications, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 105 (2000) 930– 942.
- [162] J.A. Ascherman, M.W. Hanasono, M.I. Newman, D.B. Hughes, Implant reconstruction in breast cancer patients with radiation therapy, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 117 (2006) 359–365.
- [163] K. Benediktsson, L. Perbeck, Capsular contracture around saline-filled and textured subcutaneously placed implants in irradiated and non-irradiated breast cancer patients: five years of monitoring of a prospective trial,

J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 59 (2006) 27–34.

- [164] E.G. Wilkins, P.S. Cederna, J.C. Lowery, et al., Prospective analysis of psychosocial outcomes in breast reconstruction: one-year postoperative results from the Michigan Breast Reconstruction Outcome study, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 106 (2000) 1014–1027.
- [165] J.H. Yueh, S.A. Slavin, T. Adesiyun, et al., Patient satisfaction in postmastectomy breast reconstruction: a comparative evaluation of DIEP, TRAM, latissimus flap, and implant techniques, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 125 (2010) 1585–1595.
- [166] K.B. Clough, J.M. O'Donoghue, A.D. Fitoussi, et al., Prospective evaluation of late cosmetic results following breast reconstruction: I. Implant reconstruction, Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 107 (2001) 1702–1709.
- [167] M.B. Nava, A. Spano, P. Cadenelli, et al., Extra-projected implants as an

alternative surgical model for breast reconstruction. Implantation strategy and early results, Breast 17 (2008) 361–366.

- [168] J.P. Fischer, J.A. Nelson, J.M. Serletti, et al., Peri-operative risk factors associated with early tissue expander (TE) loss following immediate breast reconstruction (IBR): a review of 9305 patients from the 2005–2010 ACS-NSQIP datasets, J. Plast. Reconstr. Aesthet. Surg. 66 (2013) 1504–1512.
- [169] E. Raposio, F. Simonacci, R.E. Perrotta, Adipose-derived stem cells: Comparison between two methods of isolation for clinical applications, Ann. Med. Surg. 20 (2017) 87–91.
- [170] M. Grieco, E. Grignaffini, F. Simonacci, D. Di Mascio, E. Raposio, Post-bariatric body contouring: our experience, Acta. Biomed. 87 (2016) 70–75.
- [171] N. Bertozzi, M. Pesce, P.L. Santi, E. Raposio, Oncoplastic breast surgery: comprehensive review, Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 21 (2017) 2572–2585.